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The Building of Wisconsin Lutheran Seminary at Mequon

Introduction

The Wisconsin Evangelical Lutheran Synod has been training pastors since 1863 when it
opened a seminary at Watertown, Wisconsin. The stay at Watertown was only 7 years, for in 1870
they began sending their pastoral candidates to Concordia, St. Louis as part of an agreement with
the Missouri Synod. This arrangement lasted only 7 years. In 1878, the Wisconsin Synod once
again took it upon themselves to train their own pastors. This time they opened their seminary in
Milwaukee, where it resided until 1893 when it was moved to Wauwatosa. For 36 years the
seminary called Wauwatosa its home. It was the most stable home that the Wisconsin Synod’s
seminary had had up until this time. Yet by 1919, the facilities at Wauwatosa proved to be neither
sufficient for nor capable of handling the growing needs of the Synod. At the Synod convention of
1919 the wheels for building a new seminary were put into motion. Over the next 8 years, there was
much preparatory work that needed to be done: a site had to be selected, money needed to be raised,
plans needed to be drawn up, and many obstacles needed to be overcome. By the 1929 school year,
the new seminary at Mequon was complete. This year, 1996, is the 66th year that Wisconsin
Lutheran Seminary has called Mequon its home. There have been some alterations along the way,
but the original plant is still intact and serves as the training grounds of the pastors of the Wisconsin

Synod.

The Story
1919

For some years, there had been a groaning in the Synod that the current site in Wauwatosa

was insufficient. There was no room for the students’ recreation on the plant. “They were forced

al first (o run around on the streets. Eventually they had two lawn tennis courts, but only two, on

731

which they took turns playing the entire day.”” As it was, there was also a problem with the lay of
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the land. Every time that it rained, there were two to three inches of water that flooded the
. sidewalks as well as the basements of the professors’ homes. There was no room to accommodate
any more professors. There was no space to build any more houses on the Seminary grounds. And
then there was the simple and most important fact that there was no room for an increase in
students.?

Over the years there had been talk of buying some land that surrounded the Seminary
property. The Seminary at Wauwatosa was located on a portion of the Pabst farm which had been
donated by Captain Pabst. The remainder of the farm began to be subdivided into lots. In 1917, the
lots were being sold rather cheaply, for $1,500.00 per acre, but the Synod did not pursue any of these
avenues immediately.® After 2 years of remaining idle on the matter, the land prices had risen to
a supposed $6,000.00 per acre. Yet Professor Koehler was assured that the land could be purchased
for around $4,250.00 per acre.*

In August of 1919 the synod met in convention at New Ulm. Karl Koehler presented a plan
for expansion of the Seminary. During the course of discussion it was revealed that two lots to the
south of the current property had already been bought by Karl Koehler and another party (Briesen).®
At the end of the discussions it was resolved that “the joint president name a committee of three,
which in turn would recommend a committee of seven as an executive committee for matters related
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lo the expansion of the Seminary.”” The members of the “Committee of Seven” were:

Pastor John Brenner, Milwaukee, WI Ex-officio members:
Pastor J. Gauss, Jenera, OH W. Bodamer

J. H. Schacht, Red Wing, MN M. Lehninger

E. W. Zutz, Norfolk, NE J. R. Baumann’

F. W. Gamm, Watertown, WI
Phil. Lucas, Milwaukee, WI
W. Upmeier Milwaukee, WI



It was also resolved that the “Committee of Seven” should get in touch with the Highland Company
before September 15, 1919 concerning the Pabst lots adjacent to the Seminary which had been
offered to the Synod for a price of $35,705, and proceed according to their best judgment.®
Concerning the matter of selecting and purchasing of properties, the “Committee of Seven” was
given the authority 1) to direct the Board of Trustees to make the proposed purchase, and 2) to look
around for new sites.® It was also resolved to spend no more money on the current property. °
The reason for not spending any more money on the current property and for giving the
authority to the “Committee of Seven” to look for new sites was that the current Seminary
property’s deed had a stipulation attached to it. When the property was first offered to the synod
by Captain Pabst, he set the conditions “that the Synod immediately undertake the building of an
educational institution there for no less than $30,000; if in the future the property were abandoned,
the proceeds of the sale, including the buildings erected, were to be divided between the Synod and
the Pabst estate.”"' Tt was the interpretation of many that if the current property were ever used by
the Synod for something other than educational purposes that this stipulation would be put into
effect and all investments in the property would be lost. '? The fact that the Synod had no clear title
to the land together with the restrictions that were on the new lots for sale and the changes in the
subdivision plans, made building on the current site unacceptable, and therefore spending any more
money on the current plant would be a waste.™ But if both the conditions on the old property and
the restrictions on the new acquisitions could be removed, expansion of the current plant would be
feasible. As the “Committee of Seven” met with representatives from the Pabst estate, expansions
seemed out of the question for the Pabst representative gave “unequivocal refusals” to both requests
for removal of conditions and the restrictions." For the remainder of 1919 the “Committee of

Seven” went about the appraising of various sites.



On November 2, the “Committee of Seven” invited all the district presidents, the Board of
Trustees and any member of the Synod to come to Milwaukee on November 14 to make suggestions
and give input with regards to the selection of a new site."® From the sites up for consideration, the
Bues farm on Greenfield Avenue seemed to have the greatest support so far, and perhaps that was
the reason for a resolution being made and passed by those in attendance that the new site for the

Seminary be “in or near Milwakee” '®

1920

In July of 1920 there was a special meeting of the Synod in Watertown, WI. During the

discussions of the Seminary situation, there was a proposal to purchase a piece of land in
Oconomowoc for $60,000. However, this site was rejected because the land was near the lake and
too low for sewerage.'” The only thing that was resolved by the Synod at this time was that the new
site for the Seminary should be “in or near Milwaukee”, as those present at the November 14, 1919
meeting in Milwaukee had decided ."® The reason for this was so that the Seminary would be
accessible to the members of the Synod via the rapid transit systems (i.e. trains and major roads) and
also closé to many established churches and schools. ™

The whole matter was sent back to committee for another year. The search for a site
continued, but there were a couple of factors that would play into the “Committee of Seven’s”
decision process. First, the site that was to be selected was to be in or near Milwaukee, and second,
the Bues farm on Greenfield Avenue had already been purchased by the Board of Trustees, but the
committee was advised not to let the fact that the Bues farm was already the property of the Synod
play a part in the decision.

After the special meeting of the Synod, J. P. Koehler took it upon himself to see if there was

a way that the Seminary building could be modified to meet the needs of a growing student body.



Plans were made and drawn up in hopes that the present structure could continue to be used at least
for the near future. ' But when the architect Holst presented the plans to the Industrial Commission
in Madison, it was rejected because it did not meet building codes. This was due to the fact that the

current building was not fireproof.??

1921

In August of 1921 the Synod Convention met in Milwaukee. It was here that the “Committee of

Seven” came with their final recommendations. From the information that the committee had
gathered, it had concluded that any projects that had to deal with the present site were not feasible.
Remodeling the existing building was ruled out by the Industrial Commission in Madison, and the
representatives of the Pabst estate made it clear that it would be impossible to get a clear title to the
current property as they would not drop the original conditions of the Seminary property nor the
restrictions on any future purchases.

The “Committee of Seven’s” recommendations were as follows:

® Build a new seminary plant on a new site

® The formation of a Building Committee who would be in charge of the entire project
Building Committee to

Select site

Make plans

Let contracts

Have oversight of construction

»2In charge of the collection of necessary funding

Building Committee to consist of 3 pastors and 4 lay people

® All necessary preparations to be made immediately

® Building to occur when 2/3 of moneys collected; This money was to be kept in a

separate fund
® Building costs not to exceed $500,000%

v

v

v

v

All of the recomondations of the “Committee of Seven” were unanimously passed.?* In
addition, resolutions were passed that gave authority to the Building Committee to sell and buy

properties. The Building Committee was chosen by the Seminary Board and the Board of Trustees.



Its members consisted of

Pastor John Brenner Mr. E. Von Breisen

Prof. J. P. Koehler Mr. Fred Gamm

Pastor H. K. Moussa (after death replaced by Mr. Mr. Theo. Buuck

Wm. Bensemann) Mr. Gustave Sengbusch?

In addition to the Building Committee there was to be an Advisory Committee which was made up

of 1 pastor and 1 lay man from each district.?®

1922

On April 26, 1922, the Building Committee met with the Advisory Committee to assess the

current Seminary and three potential sites (the Bues farm, the Van Dyke place, and the site near
Mequon). At the end of the meeting the Advisory Committee felt that it could not make a decision
at this time, so they left the matter of selecting a site in the hands of the Building Committee.
For the next few months the Building Committee went about its task of assessing potential
sites for the new Seminary. During this time, the Bues farm and the Van Dyke place were
practically eliminated from consideration by the Building Committee because of the proposed
streets that were to run through them. But after meeting with the Milwaukee County Land
Commissioners who seemed to take an interest in the whole project, an agreement was arranged by
which the proposed streets could be place:{ in such a way that they would not interfere with any
buildings that would be put up on either the Van Dyke or the Bues sites. ?® Matters were even more
improved after meeting with Wauwatosa’s Council. The Council of Wauwatosa saw no reason why
streets had to go through the Van Dyke property at all . The only condition that they had was that
they maintain the rights to enter the property in order to maintain a tunnel some 30 feet below.?
On December 14, 1922, there was another meeting of the Building Committee and the
Advisory Committee. The recommendations the Building Committee received were to delay no

longer and to get an architect, come up with a financial plan to pay for the project, and to advise the



Board of Trustees to purchase the Van Dyke site. After four years of hard work, the goal of a new
Seminary seemed to be just around the corner, but the next four years would show that this project

would not be an easy task.

1923

In January of 1923 the Building Committee began its public campaign for the new Seminary

as it published an article in the Northwestern Lutheran recounting the history that had led up to this

point in the Seminary project. For the remaining years of the Seminary project, the Northwestern

Lutheran would serve as the main vehicle of information between the Building Committee and the

congregations at large. There were also some circulars that were sent out to all of the congregations
of the Synod to be handed out to each communicant member. These circulars were used to inform
as well as to motivate interest in the building project. Even after the Seminary was complete there
were flyers.sent out to show people the new Seminary that they had helped to build.*® This form
of public campaign was necessary if a new Seminary was to be built. The Synod needed the backing
of the people and, more importantly, their money.

In February of 1923 it was announced that the Van Dyke property had indeed been bought
by the Board of Trustees for a price of $40,000 ($5,000 down and $5,000 a year for the next 7
years).*! There was also added to the Advisory Committee three men who were in the construction
business: William. C. Bensemann, J. W. Jungbluth, and Charles Grunewald. Following another of
the suggestions that the Advisory Committee had given the Building Committee, an architect was
hired: Claus, Shepherd, and Claus.*? But before the architects had even been hired, Professor J. K.
Koehler had already drawn in depth ground plans and detailed sketches of the buildings.** The
architects followed those original sketches of Professor J. K. Koehler almost exactly except forit

was on a larger scale(see photo in Faith Life, Vol. 64, No. 1, p. 13).*



In March of 1923, the Building Committee, recognizing that the new Seminary together with
the growing debt of the Synod would place a huge burden on the Synod, “felt that the erection of
a new Seminary should not increase the indebtedness of the Synod by one cent. But this is better
still, build the Seminary and wipe out the debt (of the Synod) at the same time.””* The idea was to
have a joint collection for both the construction of a new Seminary as well as debt reduction. The
combined estimated money that would needed to be collected in order to achieve both goals was
figured at about $750,000. In April of 1923 the Board of Trustees put this plan into effect when it
placed Fred Gamm of the Building Committee in charge of the collection for the new Seminary and
debt reduction.®® In May of 1923, the collection had officially begun.*

At the Synod convention of 1923 the Seminary project took a sharp turn. From the time that
the new Seminary had originally been considered in 1919, the debt of the Synod had been increased
by nearly $200,000.® Many in the Synod felt that undertaking a project of such a high cost
($500,000)*® with a debt that already stood at $289,000* would not be the most prudent action,
even with the Building Committee’s plan for the joint collection. Thus the “Resolution of ‘23" was

passed. The resolution reads, “The building of the new Seminary shall not be begun until the

present debts have been paid and the full amount necessary for such building is at hand "'

The “Resolution of ‘23" nullified the previous resolution made in 1921 to begin construction
of the new Seminary when two thirds of the money was collected, and it now gave the Building
Committee an entirely different task than its title would suggest. It was now the Building
Committee’s responsibility to wipe out the debt of the Synod entirely as well as to raise all of the
monies for the Seminary, which all together totaled approximately $750,000 needed. According to
the resolution passed in 1921, the Building Committee would have had to collect only $280,000

before construction could begin. According to the “Resolution of ‘23", they now had to raise two



and a half times that amount before anything could begin.

1924

The Building Committee began its preaching of stewardship at the end of 1923 and

preaching stewardship was about all the Committee could do in 1924. The plans for the Seminary
were complete. The land was bought. The only thing that was missing was the money to build.
From the conception of the plan which called for a joint collection for the new Seminary and debt
reduction, it had been deduced that if every communicant member were to give 1.5% of his yearly
income (an average figure of $1,000 income per year), the entire sum that was needed to fulfill the
“Resolution of 23" ($750,000) could be reached within one years time.

At this time in the Synod’s history, facts and figures were the way stewardship was done, so
a%@zaa'fsi;/stelll was put into effect to raise the necessary monies. The Synod knew that they needed
$750,000. They also knew that of their 150,000 communicant members, 50,000 of them were wage
earners who made approximately $1,000 annually. In order to come up with the Lc;(;dc:scj they took
the amount necessary and divided it by the number of total wage earners ($750,000 / 50,000 = §$15).
Once they knew the amount that the Wage earner should be giving to the project, they took the per
wage earner amount and divided it by the average income ($15/ $1,000 =.015 = 1.5%). They then
had the percentage at which every wage earner, no matter how much or how little they made, should
be aiming. A simple figure of $15 could not be set as the @ggéimbecause for some that would be far
too great a burden to ask.

G gloe Qoote,

But the preaching of stewardship did not begin with éodas,/but with the Gospel. Ceodas were
merely a guideline for people to know how much they should strive to give to the project so that

they could each do their fair share. The main point of emphasis in all of the articles in the

Northwestern Lutheran that touched on the matter of the collection centered around the task at hand:




building a “school for the prophets™ of our Synod. The purpose for the collection was to have a
facility so that men could be trained to preach God’s Word to others and to care for souls. Many
times, however, the task at hand was overshadowed by the overwhelming call for each member of
the Synod to do their fair share in the joint collection.

The money was still coming in at a fairly good rate, but not at the rate that had originally
been expected. The money that had already been collected was invested in April of 1924 in order
that interest could be earned while the Synod waited for the rest of the money to come in. This

proved to be a wise investment, as through the years over $27, 000 was earned in interest. *?

1925

While 1924 was a slow year for progress in the Seminary project, 1925 would be even
slower. The collection had come nowhere close to meeting the expectations that the Building
Committee had had. (Note: If the original resolution of 1921 would not have been dissolved because

of the “Resolution of 23", the amount necessary, 2/3 of the entire building cost, $280,000, would

have been available and building could have begun.) In a June issue of the Northwestem Lutheran,
Pastor John Brenner, Chairman of the Building Committee, deplored the fact that the cooperation
that originally had been expected for this project had not taken place, and he related the
bewilderment and concern that the Seminary now had as to what, if anything, would be happening
to the project.®®

At the Synod Convention in 1925, there seemed to be a ray of hope. During the course of
events, it was memorialized that the Synod should start building as much as the current monies
would allow. The feeling among many was that now was time, but due to the resounding echo of
the “Resolution of 23" the motion was defeated.** The Synod was convinced that the necessary

monies must be collected before anything could happen. There was still a long way to go before
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the collection would be complete. The Building Committee knew what they had to do and so they
came back from another Synod convention with nothing to do but raise more money. One change
of positions did take place on the Building Committee. Fred Gamm stepped down as treasurer and

was replaced by Pastor John Brenner, Chairman, who now held two positions.*®

1926

As the year opened Pastor Brenner announced in the Northwestern Lutheran that he looked

forward to starting the building of the new Seminary in the fall of 1927, hoping that by then the
collection would be complete. While Pastor Brenner was filled with optimism, he also related the
fact that there were 125 congregations that he had not heard from. This was definitely
disappointing, but Pastor Brenner tried his best to spur on the others brothers in the ministry as he
wrote, “Brethren, has not the time for energetic action arrived? Nothing is gained by
2548

procrastination, much 1is lost.

Throughout the rest of the year, Pastor Brenner had articles in the Northwestern Lutheran

in which he tried to be motivational to the members of the Synod. He tried to stress the point that
quotas are not a bad thing. ¥ They are part of our Christian obligation. We have a responsibility to
preach the Word to the world and the way that we can all do this is by training men to go and preach
the Word. And in order to train these men we must have a place to train them.*® It is exactly that
task that the Synod had undertaken, and as part of the Synod, this was the work that every member

of the Synod had also undertaken.*

1927

This year was the turning point in the Seminary project. At the Synod convention there were

some interesting developments. It was brought to the Synod’s attention that the New Ulm campus

was in need of some additional buildings for classrooms and a dining hall, as well as some
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renovations to the music hall. A resolution was passed to proceed with these projects. Part of the
finances for these projects were to be added to the “New Seminary and Synod Debt Reduction
Collection”. This now meant that the sum total of the collection was to be set at $750,000. (Note:
Over the course of time there had been some altering as to the amount the new Seminary would cost.
The projected cost was now closer to $400, 000 than $500,000)*

The New Ulm projects were somewhat of a surprise, but not nearly as much of a surprise as
the resolution that the Synod passed concerning the building of the new Seminary. The resolution
reads, “The Building Committee is hereby given authority to begin building operation as soon as it
considers it the proper time to do s0.”®' The “Resolution of ‘23" was dead. There was nothing to
stop the Building Committee from finally going ahead with the plans that they had held for so long.
But that leads us to the third interesting development at the Synod convention of 1927.

In the report from the Seminary Building Committee, Mr. E. Von Briesen enlightened the
Synod on the new developments with the Van Dyke property.

The Seminary Building Committee feels that before starting any building on
the present Van Dyke site it should inform the Synod fully in reference to the
situation.

Since the purchase of the Van Dyke site and especially in the last years there
has been a great deal of development in the “Rapid Transit” transportation system.
At the present time we can ride from Second and Sycamore to the heart of Waukesha
in thirty-five minutes. The transportation system will undoubtedly develop more.
The result of this is that one can now build a seminary building within twenty miles
of the heart of Milwaukee and reach the city as rapidly as on can from the present
site.

The Seminary Building Committee has been offered $95,000.00 for the Van
Dyke site. It feels that the value of this site is somewhat more. Some members of
the committee feel that the Synod can not afford a $100, 000.00 site for its seminary
building when other property can undoubtedly be purchased at a cost of
approximately $25,000 to $40,000. The advantage or disadvantage of a site
somewhat removed from the city should be thoroughly considered by your
committee or your committee and the Board of Trustees, and if the Synod feels that
the question of the sale of the present site and the purchase of a new site should be
left to the discretion of some committee, proper resolutions authorizing the sale of
the present site in whole or in part should be adopted, and also a resolution

12



authorizing the purchase of a new site.*?

The entire Seminary building project now had to be reconsidered somewhat due to these
developments.

Within a very short time the Van Dyke property was sold for $107,500, which was a $67,000
profit.*®* Now the search for a new site for the Seminary was once again on the agenda for the
Building Committee. The criteria for the new site was that it be in or near Milwaukee, that it have
adequate transportation facilities, concrete roads, bus or electric rail service, and that it would be
preferable to have a site that was not cut up by streets.® The one site that fit all of these

requirements was the site near Mequon. In a November issue of the Northwestern Lutheran it was

announced that the Mequon site was the selection of the Building Committee.®® The site near
Mequon was to be purchased at a cost of $25,000 in the very near future. % On December 15, 1927,
the Building Committee met with the Advisory Committee at St. John’s on 8th and Vilet.*” This
was the final conference between these two committees. The building plans were revised and
approved. All that was left for the architects to do was a little final work and the technical

specifics.®®

1928

In February of 1928, the ground was broken at the site near Mequon as a well driller cut

through the surface.®® There was no pomp or ceremony, but work had begun. It was not until May
14, 1928, that work in earnest was begun on the actual plant.®® The plant itself was to occupy the
highest point on the property Following the original plans that J. P. Koehler had made for the Van
Dyke site, the Seminary buildings would form a segment of a circle. Due to the topography of the
land the original plans for the Seminary had to be somewhat altered as part of the buildings would

be built right into the side of the hill that the Seminary was to occupy. The chapel was removed
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from the administrative building and added to the library and classroom building. This was actually

1.5' Consequently

quite advantageous, as the chapel could now be used as a classroom or lecture hal
the gym was placed under the chapel which was built into the side of the hill. This too was
advantageous, as long windows could be placed in such a way so that the gym would be lit during
the day by the sun.

As the new plans for the Seminary stood there would be three basic buildings: the education
building, the administrative building, and the dorm. The dorm building consisted of four regular
units and one half unit. Each regular unit had the capacity to hold up to sixteen students. The units
were divided up into an upper and a lower section. Each section contained seven rooms. There
were two bedrooms that could each handle four students, four studies that could each handle two
students, and a bathroom that was to take care of the needs of eight students. Originally there was
to be a six foot wide corridor that was to connect all of the units, but due to cost and sound
considerations, it was dropped. In the lower portion of the dorm there were to be laundry facilities,
storage rooms, a carpenters’ shop, and a lounge area for the students. ®?

The administrative building was to contain the kitchen and dining hall, which was to have
a 100 student capacity. 8 A hospital section was also in the plans. It would contain a sick bay, a
nurses room, a bathroom, and additional rooms for visitors. There were also to be quarters for the
maids. But the highlight of the administrative building was to be the Director’s residence. The
Director would now live right in the heart of the Seminary.**

Between the administrative building and the education building there was to be an arch to
let people into the inner circle of the Seminary. Above this archway there was to be a tower. A
tower might seem a bit extravagant, but there was a need for such a structure. In order to achieve

the necessary water pressure, it was thought that there had to be an elevated water tank. What better
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place for a water tank than in a tower, and so the new Seminary had a tower. Also housed in the
tower was a faculty room for meetings.

The educational portion of the building was to consist of three classrooms, 25ft. x 25ft. each,
on the first floor. The library and reading rooms, made up the second floor. In addition to these
rooms there was to be an amusement room in the basement together with the gym and showers, as
well as a 32ft. x 60ft. chapel and a 32ft. x 21ft. committee room at the rear, on the remainder of the
first floor. All in all the Building Committee had almost every inch of the buildings designated for
some specific purpose. ®°

The exterior of the buildings was to have a definite Lutheran look. Part of the buildings were
to be fashioned after the Wartburg, while the rest were to be done in a complementary style that
would blend in. The walls were to be done in a salmon colored brick with Lannon stone in the
detailed areas around windows and doors. The roof of the buildings was to be done with a
variegated slate. It was designed for simplicity and charm. ® Even the approach was done in a way
to highlight the beauty of the structure. There were to be two entrances, one from the south which
would come in on the tower and one from the north which would come in on the opening of the
circle segment. ®” Each of these entrances were to have ornamented gates.®®

By May of 1928, the Building Committee had opened the bids, selected the contractors, and
had the surveyors stake out the site. ® ( Note: For a listing of contractors that worked on the
Seminary building project see WELS Proceedings of 1929, p. 32 and “Seminary Building Costs -
February 19, 1930" located in the archives of WLS) By June of the year the footings on the
Seminary buildings were dug and the steam shovels were moving on to the professors” houses. Two
of the footings had already been poured and the masons were working on the dorm footings. "OWork

was well on the way, but there was one thing missing, there needed to be a cornerstone laying
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On July 22, 1928, the cornerstone was laid at the Seminary at Mequon. The seats that had
been set up for 4,000 expected guests were filled by an estimated 5,000 - 7,000 people. Pastor
John Plocher, the 1st Vice-President of the Minnesota District, was to preach the German address,
but he was unable to attend, so A. C. Hasse, Secretary of the Synod, gave the German address
instead. August Zich, President of the Northern Wisconsin District, gave the English address. The
cornerstone itself was laid by the President of the Synod, Gustav Bergemann, with the help of Pastor
H. Knuth, Chairman of the Seminary Board.”

On one side the cornerstone had inscribed, “Seminarium Theologicum 1928 Lutheran
Theological Seminary”, and on the other, “Sola Gratia Sola Sctiptura Sola Fide”.

The contents of the new cornerstone were:

a copy of the Gemeindeblatt

a copy of the Northwestern Lutheran

a copy of the Kinderfreude

a copy of the Junior Northwestern

a copy of the Northwestern Lutheran Annual

a copy of the “Seminary Catalog”

a copy of the latest “Parochialbericht” - a brief copy of the Seminary building project
an English and German daily newspaper

a copy of the program of the day

a copy of Hoenecke’s Dogmatics

a copy of Schaller’s Pastorale

a copy of Pieper’s Jesaias

a copy of Koehler’s_Geschichte der Wisconsin Synode 72

vV vV ¥ ¥V ¥ ¥ Y ¥Y Vv V ¥ ¥ ¥

The old cornerstone from the Seminary in Wauwatosa was moved to the new Seminary as
well. The contents of the old cornerstone were somewhaf damaged by water, so the contents were
refurbished and the old cornerstone soldered shut to prevent any future water damage. The
cornerstone itself was placed in the wall of the tower.

Once the ceremonies of the cornerstone laying were over, it was back to work on the
construction. The mason started working on the dorm, going unit-by-unit, moving around the circle

segment which would end with the chapel. The plan of attack was for the masons to build the walls
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unit-by-unit with the carpenters following behind them building the roof for each unit. In this way,
the buildings would be safe from inclement weather.” Buildings were not the only concern of the
Building Committee. There was also the matter of landscaping. At the north entrance to the property
there was a section of land that had always been boggy due to a creek that ran through the property.
In order to add to the beauty of the Seminary, it was decided that, that this section of land should be
tiled and a lagoon formed for the creek to flow into. There was also the matter of the road on the
property. The previous lanes that ran through the property needed to graded and widened to meet
the future needs of the Seminary traffic. As for the natural landscape of the property, there was not

much that could be done at this time due to the incomplete construction.”

1929

By January of 1929, the concrete and plastering of the dorms and the administrative building

were complete, and the workers were currently concentrating on the library building. The residences
of the professors were well on their way to completion with the exception of the slate roofs.
Construction was no longer the top priority. Plans were now focusing on the furnishing of the new
Seminary. Chairman Brenner expressed his optimism when he related the fact that there were hopes

1.7 It was the feeling of the Building Committee that the

to move into the new Seminary in Apri
dorms and the kitchen should be newly furnished.”® This meant that desks, chairs, drapes, linoleum,
mirrors, beds, sheets, pillowslips, towels, and quilts were needed. In order to come up with these
additional items, chairman Brenner encouraged the ladies of the Synod to send in some of the needed
items.””

Most of this year was spent putting on the finishing touches. With completion close at hand,

there were many in the Synod who wanted to get first-hand looks at the grand Seminary project.

Students were reportedly giving tours of the buildings to the interested spectators. 1n order to give
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all of the members of the Synod a good look at the new Seminary, there were articles with pictures

published in the Northwestern Lutheran during July and August, as well as a sixteen page booklet

produced that showed the Seminary that was to be distributed to the entire Synod.”

In the August 4, 1929 edition of the Northwestern Lutheran, there ran an announcement for

the dedication of the Seminary to be held on August 18, 1929, with services both in the morning and
in the afternoon. It encouraged those who were planning to attend to drop the regular Sunday
morning worship and to come instead to Thiensville for the dedication services. There was one word
of warning though: if you wanted to eat, you had to bring your own lunch.®

On August 18, 1928, the Seminary at Mequon was dedicated. Approximately 15,000
members of the Synod attended, which was a few thousand more than the number of seats that had
been set up. The weather was perfect. In the morning service, the President of the Synod, Gustav
Bergemann, preached the German address on Romans 3:28, and pastor John Glaeser preached the
English address on Jeremiah 23:6. In the afternoon service, Pastor John Witt preached the German
address on I Corinthians 1:30, and Pastor Edward Birkholz preached the English address on John
5:39. In connection with the services there was a 500 voice choir that sang. This was one of the
biggest gatherings in Synod history. After the services were complete, there were thousands who
remained to tour the buildings which were left open for the remainder of the day.®!

The building project had reached its completion. At least, the building portion of the project
was done. There was still the matter of paying for the project. By September of 1929, only
$586,639.37 of a needed $750,000 had been collected. ® But the money for the Seminary was on
hand as the school was dedicated. On May 27, 1930, the Seminary Building account was closed. Yet
part of the agreement that the Building Comumittee had taken upon itself was to raise the necessary

funds for the Synod’s debt and the New Ulm projects as well. Thus the work of the committee went
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on for a number of years after the Seminary was in use and paid for. *

Conclusion

When looking at the Seminary in 1996, one can still see much of the original design and

structure, which shows the thoughtfulness that was taken when the original plans were made. The
improvements that have been made over the years have not made any part of the plant unusable. The
plans were made in such a way that changes could be made as needs required. This is especially true
when considering the dorm unit editions, the library, and the altering of the old gym. With the small
exception of the color of the brick and different window styles, it is difficult to distinguish the new
from the old.
Upon reflection of the building project itself, [ marvel at the financial aspects of the project -
the amount of money, the way in which it was to be collected, the stewardship that was patiéntly
preached repeatedly, and the way that the Lord blessed the Synod so that such an undertaking could
be achieved. After playing with the numbers and considering the investments that were made, 1
estimate that there was $215,368.77 taken in by the Synod by 1931, apart from the offerings of the
Synod which could be applied to the collection. That is quite a gift with which the Lord blessed us

which now provides many blessings to the Synod each year.
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The Collection

Northwestern
Lutheran
Reference

Vol.
Vol.
Vol.
Vol
Vol.
Vol.
Vol.
Vol.
Vol.
Vol.
Vol.
Vol.
Vol.
Vol.

Vol.
Vol.
Vol.
Vol.
Vol.
Vol.
Vol.

Vol.
Vol.
Vol.
Vol.
Vol.
Vol.
Vol.
Vol.
Vol.
Vol.
Vol.
.15, p. 398
Vol.
Vol.
Vol.
Vol.
Vol.
Vol.
Vol.
Vol.
Vol.
Vol.
Vol.
Yol.
Vol.
Vol.
Vol.
Vol.
Vol.
Vol.
Vol.
Vol.
Vol.
Vol.
Vol.
Vol.
Vol.
Vol.
Vol.
Vol.
Vol.

Vol

10, p. 207
10, p. 224
10, p. 265
10, p. 288
10, p. 336
10, p. 384
11, p. 96

11,p. 174
11,p.224
11, p. 386
12, p. 189
12, p. 288
12, p. 368
12, p. 400

15,p. 128
15, p. 160
15, p. 192
15, p. 224
15, p. 267
15, p. 303
15,p. 335
15, p. 364

16,p. 13
16, p. 63
16, p. 96
16, p. 126
16, p. 159
16, p. 208
16, p. 240
16, p. 271
186, p. 302
16, p. 335
16, p. 365
16, p. 415
17,p.32
17,p.61
17,p.96
17,p. 128
17,p. 175
17, p. 208
17,p. 238
17,p. 271
17, p. 351
17,p.382
18, p. 31
18, p. 31
18,p. 80
18, p. 142
18, p. 142
18, p. 206
18, p. 319

23

24

25

Year Month

May
June
July
Aug.
Sept.
Nov.
Jan
May
June
Oct.
May
Aug.
Nov.
Dec.

Monthly
Contribution

$19,730.79
$19,015.13
$27,642.18
$30,329.93
$8,883.36
$15,444.90
$34,809.98
$24,451.46
$13,708.86
$27,643.39
$57,114.58
$26,309.55
$7,997.33
$3 286, 76

$3, 61 1. 95
$7,961.13
$12,921.69
$8,693.03
$7,740.65
$3,758.93
$4,269.13
59

$7,042.72
$10,110.82
$10,967.99
$5,867.05
$1,806.88
$5,547.54
$5,468.71
$7,061.30

30

31

March
Aprit
May
June
July
Aug.
Sept.
Oct.
Nov.
Dec.
Jan.
Feb.
March
April
May
June
July
Aug.
Sept.
Qct.
Nov.
Dec.
Jan.
Feb.
March
May
Aug.

$2,396.66
$4,011.51
$3,752.18
$1,717.52
$1,70053
$2,268.95
$1,058.54
$1,558.67
$3,480.13
$1,512.14
$6,660.24
$14,588.82
$14,271.85
$5,602.01
$11,206.98
$2,825.15
$4,177.91
$3,108.00
$3,748.80
$3,637.28
$3,159.51
$23,127.13
$8,612.45
$9,689.06
$5,148.60
$3,643.27
$5,394.12
$2,275.88
$1,026.31
$1,000.00
$1,534.20
$990.66
$2,810.86
$386.79
$2,458.88
$1,113.47
$1,172.20
$1,115.40
$1,114.64
$379.41
$833.42
$1,646.86

*Total Collected

$19,730.79

$38,745.92

$66,388.10

$96,718.03
$105,601.39
$121,046.29
$155,856.27
$180,307.73
$194,016.59
$221,659.98
$278,774.56
$305,084.11
$313,081.44
$316,368.20

$338,921.17
$342,533.12
$350,494.25
$363,415.94
$372,108.97
$379,849.62
$383,608.55
$387,877.68

$412,880.27
$422,891.09
$433,958.08
$439,826.13
$441,633.01
$447,180.55
$452,649.26
$459,710.56

$469,467 .44
$473,478.95
$477,231.14
$478,948.66
$480,649.18
$482,918.14
$483,976.68
$485,535.35
$489,015.48
$490,527.62
$497,187.86
$511,776.75
$526,048.60
$531,650.61
$542,857.59
$545,682.74
$549,860.65
$552,966.65
$556,715.45
$560,352.73
$563,512.24
$586,639.37
$585,251.82
$604,940.88
$610,089.48
$613,732.75
$619,126.87
$621,402.75
$622,429.06
$623,428.06
$624,963.26
$625,953.92
$628,764.78
$629,151.57
$631,610.45
$632,723.92
$633,896.12
$635,011.52
$636,126.16
$636,505.57
$637,338.99
$638,985.85

**Proposed Balance

Needed for the

Seminary Project
$400,000.00
$380,269.21
$361,254.08
$333,611.90
$303,281.97
$294,398.61
$278,953.71
$244,143.73
$219,692.27
$205,983.41
$178,340.02
$121,225.44
$94,915.89
$86,918.56
$83,631.80

$57, 466 88
$48,505.75
$36,584.06
$27,891.03
$20,150.38
$16,391.45
12,122.32

*taken form Listed Northwestern Lutheran References
** taken from Noithwestern Lutheran Vol. 10, p.275

*** taken from "The Money Situation Sheet” minus the dlwdens
**** taken from 1931 Synod Proceedings, p. 22

***Actual Balance

Seminary Project
$334,869.23
$315,138.44
$296,123.31
$268,481.13
$238,151.20
$229,267.84
$213,822.94
$179,012.96
$154,561.50
$140,852.64
$113,209.25

$56,094.67
$29,785.12
$21,787.79
$18,501.03

**Proposed Balance

Needed for the

Seminary Project
$689,508.08
$669,777.27
$650,762.14
$623,119.96
$592,790.03
$583,906.67
$568,461.77
$533,651.79
$509,200.33
$495,491.47
$467,848.08
$410,733.50
$384,423.95
$376,426.62
$373 139, 86

$348, 974 94
$339,013.81
$326,092.12
$317,399.09
$309,658.44
$305,899.51

$301,630.38

$276,627.79
$266,516.97
$255,548.98
$249,681.03
$247,875.05
$242,327 .51
$236,858.80
$229,797.50

$220,040.62
$216,029.11
$212,276.92
$210,558.40
$208,858.87
$206,588.92
$205,631.38
$203,972.71
$200,492.58
$198,980.44
$192,320.20
$177,731.31
$163,450.46
$157,857.45
$146,650.47
$143,825.32
$139,647.41
$136,541.41
$132,792.61
$129,155.33
$125,995.82
$102,868.69
$94,256.24
$84,567.18
$79.418.58
$75,775.31
$70,381.19
$68,106.31
$67,079.00
$66,079.00
$64,544.80
$63,554.14
$60,743.28
$60,356.49
$57,897.61
$56,784.14
$55,611.94
$54,496.54
$53,381.90
$53,002.49
$52,169.07
$50,522.21

***Actual Balance

****Actual Balance
Needed for the

Needed for the Synod's Debt and the
Needed for the Synod's Debt and the Synod's Debt and the

Seminary Project
$490,018.23
$470,287.44
$451,272.31
$423,630.13
$393,300.20
$384,416.84
$368,971.94
$334,161.96
$309,710.50
$296,001.64
$268,358.25
$211,24367

$184,934.12

$176,936.79
$173,650.03

3158546 5

$151,097.06

$147,485.11
$139,523.98
$126,602.29
$117,909.26
$110,168.61
$106,408.68
$102,140.55

$77,137.96
$67,027.14
$56,059.15
$50,182.10
$48,385.22
$42,837.68
$37,368.97
$30,307.67

Seminary and New
Ulm Projects

$739,358.49

$719,627.70
$700,612.57
$672,970.39
$642,640.46
$633,757.10
$618,312.20
$583,502.22
$559,050.76
$545,341.90
$517,698.51
$460,583.93
$434,274.38
$426,277.05
$422,990.29
40788676
$400,437.32
$396,825.37
$388,864.24
$375,942.55
$367,249.52
$359,508.87
$355,749.94
$351,480.81

$326,478.22
$316,367.40
$305,399.41
$299,532.36
$297,725.48
$202,177.94
$286,709.23
$279,647.93

$269,891.05
$265,879.54
$262,127.35
$260,409.83
$258,709.30
$256,440.35
$255,381.81
$253,823.14
$250,343.01
$248,830.87
$242,170.63
$227,581.74
$213,300.89
$207,707.88
$196,500.90
$193,675.75
$189,497.84
$186,391.84
$182,643.04
$179,005.76
$175,846.25
$152,719.12
$144,106.67
$134,417.61
$129,269.01
$125,625.74
$120,231.62
$117,955.74
$116,929.43
$115,929.43
$114,395.23
$113,404.57
$110,593.71
$110,206.92
$107,748.04
$106,634.57
$105,462.37
$104,346.97
$103,232.33
$102,852.92
$102,019.50
$100,372.64
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The Money Situation

Old Debt
Debt of Synod with current building expenses $210,841.61 e
Van Dyke property $35,000.00 i
Bues farm $25,000.00 faad
Church Extension Fund $18,666.44 fad

total $289,508.05 ***

Cost of the Seminary

Land and Land Improvements $53,659.17 *
Buildings and Attached Fixtures $315,882.61 *
Machinery and Equipment $11,902.74 *
Furniture and Fixtures $6,565.66 *

$388,010.18 *

Money received by the Synod
Sale of the Van Dyke Property

portion received 5/30/30 $4,327.82 *
portion received 6/30/29 $27,900.00 *
portion received 7/31/30 $3,000.00 *
portion received 11/21/30 $2,000.00 *
portion received 12/31/30 $6,000.00 *
portion received 4/28/31 $33,000.00 *
portion used to purchase Mequon Property $25,272.18 *
portion {o be paid as of June of 1931 $6,000.00 *
$107 50000 M
Sale of Old Seminary Site

Synod's share of the Pabst estate $27,500.00 *
Sale of one Professor's house $7,500.00 *
$3500000 ¥

Sale of Bues farm ; . $4500000 ke

Dividends on Investments . $2786877 M
$215,368.77 |

Total received by the Synodg

Money Applied to Seminary Project
Dividends on Investments $27,868.77
portion used to purchase Mequon Property $

Money applied to the Debt

Actual Collection Money Needed for Seminary $334,869.23
Actual Collection Money Needed for Synod's Debt $127,280.23
Actual Total Collection Needed $462,149.46

* Figures taken from the 1931 Synod Proceedings, p. 107-108
** Figures taken from the 1929 Synod Proceedings, p.29
*** Figures taken from Northwestern Lutheran, Vol. 10, p.275
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